
 

 
 

   

 

  
  

  
   

 

   

   

      

   

   

  

    

   

   

     

     

    

    

         

   

      

   

    

     

     

   

Municipal Stability Board 

REGULAR MEETING 

Wednesday, October 17, 2018 at 10:30 a.m. 
Austin Building 

State Treasurer’s Boardroom 
430 W. Allegan Street 

Lansing, MI 48922 

I. Call to Order 

A. Roll Call 

B. Approval of September 12, 2018 Minutes 

II. Public Comment 

A. 2 minute limit 

III. Correspondence 

A. PA 202 Treasury Update 

IV. Old Business 

V. New Business 

A. Corrective Action Plan Extension Requests 

i. City of Wyandotte Retiree Health Care Plan 

B. Receipt of Corrective Action Plans: 

i. City of East Lansing 

ii. Bay Metropolitan Transportation Authority – 2 systems 

iii. Wexford County Road Commission 

iv. Suburban Mobility Authority for Regional Transportation 

v. Village of Farwell 

vi. Gratiot County Road Commission 

vii. City of Fraser – 2 systems 

viii. Central Michigan Health Department 

ix. City of Eastpointe 

1 



 

2 
 

x. City of Escanaba 

xi. City of St. Johns 

xii. Beecher Metropolitan District 

xiii. Marquette Board of Light and Power 

xiv. City of Southfield – 2 systems  

xv. Saline Area Fire Dept. 

C. Approvals and Denials of Corrective Action Plans (Resolution 2018-14) 

i. Kalamazoo Lake Sewer and Water Authority Municipal Employees’ 

Retirement System of Michigan 

ii. City of Ionia 

iii. Bloomfield Township Public Library Other Postemployment Benefits Program 

iv. City of Hart MERS RHFV 

v. Ottawa County Road Commission  

1. Pension: The Retiree Health Plan  

2. Healthcare: Ottawa CRC 

VI. Public Comment 

A. 2 minute limit 

VII. Board Comment 

VIII. Adjournment 



 

 

    

       
  

   
    

   
 

   
 

           
 
 

  
 

    
  

  
  

 
                

 
 
 

   
 

             
 

            
           

 
 

  
 

   
 
 

 
 

             
               

             
                

              
                

             

Municipal Stability Board Minutes 

Wednesday, September 12, 2018 at 10:30 a.m. 
Austin Building 

State Treasurer’s Boardroom 
430 W. Allegan Street 

Lansing, MI 48922 

Call to Order 

Chairman Eric Scorsone called the meeting to order at 10:40 a.m. 

Roll Call 

Members Present – 3 
Eric Scorsone 
Daryl Delabbio 
Barry Howard 

Let the record show that 3 Board members eligible to vote were present. A quorum was 
present. 

No public comment. 

Approval of Minutes 

Motion was made to approve the minutes regarding August 15, 2018 board meeting. 

Motion moved by B. Howard supported by D. Delabbio, the Board unanimously 
approved the August 15, 2018 meeting minutes. 3 ayes, 0 nays. 

Public Comment 

Correspondence 

• PA 202 Treasury Update – Kevin Kubacki reviewed the new resolution technique 
that the Board will utilize to vote on corrective action plans (CAPs). The team has 
drafted a color coded appendix to show if each CAP meets Approval Criteria 
established by the Board. In the appendix, if a cell is green, the CAP met that 
CAP approval criteria. If it is yellow, the CAP partially met the CAP approval 
criteria. If it is red, the CAP did not meet the CAP approval criteria. Mr. Kubacki 
addressed questions from the board. Each CAP will now be summarized in the 



 

 

              
 

              
             

            
             

             
            

             
             
            

            
              

              
              

          
            

               
                 

   
 

             
           

              
             

            
 

            
             

            
              

     
 

  
 

           
 

 
             
               

            
       

 
              

              
 

  
 

color-coded appendix, which will include a hyperlink to the CAP in its entirety. 

• Responding to the Board’s Questions - Kevin Kubacki reported to the Board that 
last month Treasury was asked to provide references to PA 202 of 2017 
regarding the definition of general fund operating revenues and the authority the 
Treasurer has to grant waivers. There was a question at last month’s board 
meeting about the use of enterprise funds as revenue in the determination of 
underfunded status. Section 3(g) of Public Act 202 of 2017provides the definition 
of general fund operating revenues. Mr. Howard noted that the use of enterprise 
fund revenue in the determination of underfunded status is unclear to many local 
units, such as Escanaba, that have employee benefits that are charged to 
enterprise funds. Mr. Howard asked if enterprise funds are used to supplement 
the local unit’s health care fund payments, would those funds be allowable to be 
included in the calculations of fiscal viability. The Act states that the Treasurer is 

corrective action plan. Mr. Howard asked the Attorney General’s (AG) 

offered to look into if the Board would like. Mr. Howard noted it is up to the 

representatives if they had an advisory opinion about how the Board should 

to determine the waiver results, but it is the Board’s decision to evaluate the 

consider this revenue. At this time, the AG’s office does not have an opinion but 

Treasurer to decide. 

• Extension Request – Kevin Kubacki gave an update to the Board regarding 
instructions and example language local governments can use when applying for 
a 45 day extension of a CAP. Klein Allison from the Attorney General’s office 
clarified for the board there is no mechanism within statute that allows Treasury 
or the board to request an extension of reviewing CAPs once received. 

• 
a detailed update on the CAP result letters Treasury will issue to local 
governments on the Board’s behalf once CAP results have been determined. If 
the Board disapproves a CAP they have 15 days to provide the detailed reasons 
to the local units. 

Old Business 

Feedback on the Best Practices and Corrective Action Plan Criteria (Resolution 

Corrective Action Plan Letters (Disapprove, Split, Approve) – Kevin Kubacki gave 

2018-12) 

Kevin Kubacki reviewed the comments and changes made to the document with the 
Board. This document was put back up for public comment and there was no public 
comment received. Treasury made some technical clean up in the document. Treasury 
asks the Board to review the document. 

Motion was made to approve the Feedback on the Best Practices and Corrective Action 
Plan Criteria (Resolution 2018-12). Kristin called the roll to vote. 3 ayes, 0 nays. 

New Business 



 

 

     
 

             
            

               
               
              

    
 

             
           

        
 

            
       

 
 

       
 

       
 

        
          

           
         

          
           

            
         

        
           

          
            

       
 

          
          

 
              

      
 

 
 

            
         

           
     

 

Receipt of Corrective Action Plan 

Kevin Kubacki provided the Board with the Bloomfield Township Public Library, City of 
Hart, Kalamazoo Lake Sewer and Water Authority, Ottawa County Road Commission (2 
systems) and City of Ionia Corrective Action Plans. The Board has 45 days from receipt 
to approve or deny the Corrective Action Plans. The decision is scheduled to be made 
at the next scheduled board meeting on October 17, 2018. Mr. Kubacki answered 
questions from the board. 

Motion was made to receive the Bloomfield Township Public Library, City of Hart, 
Kalamazoo Lake Sewer and Water Authority, Ottawa County Road Commission (2 
systems) and City of Ionia Corrective Action Plans. 

Motion moved by B. Howard, supported by D. Delabbio, the Board unanimously 
approved the designation. 3 ayes. 0 nays. 

Approvals and Denials of Corrective Action Plans 

Resolution 2018-13: Approval of Corrective Action Plans 

• Crawford County Road Commission Municipal Employees Retirement 
(MERS) of Michigan and Crawford County Road Commission MERS Health 
Care Savings Program– Kevin Kubacki was asked to review the Crawford 
County Road Commission Municipal Employees Retirement (MERS) of Michigan 
and Crawford County Road Commission MERS Health Care Savings Program 
corrective action plans with the board. Using the Board adopted Corrective 

its recommendation, Treasury recommended approval of the Crawford County 
Road Commission Municipal Employees Retirement (MERS) of Michigan 
corrective action plan and Treasury recommended denial of the Crawford County 
Road Commission MERS Health Care Savings Program corrective action plan. 
The board deliberated on the resolution language and asked the public in 
attendance for comment on pay-go funding policies. 

Action Plan Development: Best Practices and Strategies as the criteria to provide 

regarding PayGo as a way to fund a retirement plan. 
Karl Kramer from Genesee County Drain Commission made a comment 

Lauri Siskind from the City of Southfield made a comment regarding PayGo as a 
way to fund a retirement plan. 

Motion to approve Appendix A, which included approving the Crawford County Road 
Commission Municipal Employees Retirement (MERS) of Michigan corrective action 
plan and disapproving the Crawford County Road Commission MERS Health Care 
Savings Program corrective action plan. 



 

 

            
          

         
           

 
 

  
 

   
 

  
 

   
 

  
 

           
 
 

 
 

              
       

 
           

 

Motion moved by B. Howard, supported by D. Delabbio, the Board unanimously 
approved Appendix A, which included approving the Crawford County Road 
Commission Municipal Employees Retirement (MERS) of Michigan and disapproving 
the Crawford County Road Commission MERS Health Care Savings Program. 

Public Comment 

No public comment. 

Board Comment 

No board comment. 

Next Meeting 

Next regular meeting will be on October 17, 2018 at 10:30am 

Adjournment 

Motion made to adjourn. Motion moved by D. Delabbio, supported by B. Howard, the 
Board unanimously approved the motion to adjourn. 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 11:19 a.m. 



 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

 
 

 
 
 
 

     

      

         

         

         

           

 

     

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

    

    

    

 
 

   

     

 

     

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

          

          

          

P.A. 202 of 2017 Status Update from Treasury 
As of 10/12/2018 

PA 202: Retirement Review Analysis (Form 5572) FY 2017 

Status Option 
Primary 
Units 

Non-Primary 
Units 

Total1 

Preliminary 
Underfunded 

111 (20%) 136 (40%) 247 (28%) 

Approve 427 (79%) 199 (58%) 626(71%) 
Deny 3 (1%) 6 (2%) 9 (1%) 
Total-Reviewed 541 (61%) 342 (39%) 883 
Pending Treasury 
Review 

0 2 2 

Total-Submissions 541 (61%) 344 (39%) 885 

PA 202: Waiver Analysis FY 2017 

Waiver Applications Did Not File 

LOCAL UNIT 
TYPE 

Recommend 
Approve 
(CAP not 
required) 

Recommend 
Deny 

Split2 

Total 
Reviewed 

Waiver 
Applications 

Retirement 
Report – 

Form 5572 

Waiver 
Application 

Corrective 
Action 
Plans 

Required 

NON-PRIMARY 43 (46%) 44 (47%) 6 (6%) 93 21 26 97 

PRIMARY 13 (15%) 68 (77%) 7 (8%) 88 7 16 98 

TOTAL 56 (31%) 112 (62%) 13 (7%) 181 28 42 195 

2 Split units have at least one underfunded system requiring a corrective action plan and at least one 
system that was approved for a waiver. 

PA 202: Corrective Action Plan Analysis FY 2017 

CAP Submission Status CAP Approval Status 

LOCAL UNIT TYPE Required Submitted Approved Disapproved Split Pending 

NON-PRIMARY 97 10 (8%) 2 (20%) 0 (0%) 1 (10%) 7 (70%) 

PRIMARY 98 9 (8%) 1 (11%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 8 (89%) 

TOTAL 195 19 (10%) 3 (16%) 0 (0%) 1 (5%) 15 (79%) 



    
  

  

  

 
   

   

  

  

 
 

 

     

 

   

 

   

  

  

 

  

    

 

  

  

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

DEPARTMENT OF TREASURYRICK SNYDER NICK A. KHOURI 

GOVERNOR LANSING STATE TREASURER 

DATE: October 17, 2018 

TO:  The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) 

FROM: Community Engagement and Finance Division, Department of Treasury 

SUBJECT: Corrective Action Plan Extension Requests 

Suggested Action: The Board motions to approve the following corrective action plan 

extension requests, extending the 180-day deadline by up to an additional 45 days. 

1. City of Wyandotte 

a. OPEB: Retiree Health Care Plan 

Per Section 10(1) of Public Act 202 of 2017: The board may extend the 180-day deadline 

by up to an additional 45 days if the local unit of government submits a reasonable draft of a 

corrective action plan and requests an extension. 

P.O. BOX 30728 • LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909-8228 
www.michigan.gov/treasury 

http://www.michigan.gov/Treasury


 

 

 

 

From: Todd A. Drysdale 
To: LocalRetirementReporting 
Subject: MSB - CAP Extension Request 
Date: Thursday, October 11, 2018 3:43:47 PM 
Attachments: SKMBT_C65418101113070.pdf 

The City of Wyandotte is requesting a 45-day extension for our corrective action plan from the 
Municipal Stability Board (MSB).  Attached to this email is our reasonable draft of our corrective 
action plan and governing body approval for our extension request. 

Todd A. Drysdale, CPA 
City Administrator 
City of Wyandotte 
3200 Biddle Avenue, Suite 300 
Wyandotte, MI  48192 
734.324.4566 

mailto:LocalRetirementReporting@michigan.gov













































    
  

  

  

 
   

   

  

  

 
 

 

     

 

   

 

   

  

   

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

  

    

   

  

    

  

   

  

     

  

  

  

    

 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

DEPARTMENT OF TREASURYRICK SNYDER NICK A. KHOURI 

GOVERNOR LANSING STATE TREASURER 

DATE: October 17, 2018 

TO:  The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) 

FROM: Community Engagement and Finance Division, Department of Treasury 

SUBJECT: Receipt of Corrective Action Plans 

Suggested Action: The Board motions to receive the following corrective action plans, which 

will be considered at their next scheduled meeting: 

1. The City of East Lansing 

a. Pension: MERS 

2. Bay Metropolitan Transportation Authority 

a. Pension: MERS 

b. OPEB: Retiree Health Funding Vehicle with MERS 

3. Wexford County Road Commission 

a. OPEB: Wexford CRC 

4. Suburban Mobility Authority for Regional Transportation 

a. OPEB: SMART Retiree Health Funding Vehicle 

5. Village of Farwell 

a. Pension: MERS of Michigan 

6. Gratiot County Road Commission 

a. Pension: Municipal Employees’ Retirement System 

7. City of Fraser 

a. Pension: Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan 

b. OPEB: Self Funded OPEB 

8. Central Michigan Health Department 

a. Pension: Municipal Employees’ Retirement System 

9. City of Eastpointe 

a. Pension: MERS - Eastpointe 

10. City of Escanaba 

a. Pension: Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan (MERS) 

11. City of St. Johns 

a. Pension: MERS of Michigan 

12. Beecher Metropolitan District 

a. OPEB: Beecher Metropolitan District OPEB Plan 

P.O. BOX 30728 • LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909-8228 
www.michigan.gov/treasury 

http://www.michigan.gov/Treasury


Page 2 

 

 

13. Marquette Board of Light and Power 

a. Pension: MERS – Retiree Health Funding Vehicle 

14. City of Southfield 

a. OPEB: Retiree Healthcare Benefits Plan and Trust – Fire & Police Retirees (F&P) 

b. OPEB: Retiree Healthcare Benefits Plan and Trust – SERS Retirees 

15. Saline Area Fire Dept. 

a. OPEB: Corrective Action Plan 2017 

 

 

Corrective Action Plan Review: Following receipt of these corrective action plans, the 

Board shall approve or reject each corrective action plan within 45 days. The Board will vote 

on these corrective action plans at their next scheduled meeting. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 
 

 

      

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

Michigan Department of Treasury 
5598 (08-18) 

Protecting Local Government Retirement and Benefits Act 
Corrective Action Plan: 
Defined Benefit Pension Retirement Systems 
Issued under authority of Public Act 202 of 2017. 

1. MUNICIPALITY INFORMATION 
Local Unit Name: _______________________________ Six-Digit Muni Code: __________________________ 

Defined Benefit Pension System Name: __________________________________________________________ 

Contact Name (Administrative Officer):__________________________________________________________ 

Title if not Administrative Officer: ______________________________________________________________ 

Email:________________________________________  Telephone:_________________________________ 

2. GENERAL INFORMATION 
Corrective Action Plan: An underfunded local unit of government shall develop and submit for approval a 
corrective action plan for the local unit of government. The local unit of government shall determine the components 
of the corrective action plan. This Corrective Action Plan shall be submitted by any local unit of government with at 
least one defined benefit pension retirement system that has been determined to have an underfunded status. 
Underfunded status for a defined benefit pension system is defined as being less than 60% funded according to the most 
recent audited financial statements, and, if the local unit of government is a city, village, township, or county, the annually 
required contribution (ARC) for all of the defined benefit pension retirement systems of the local unit of government is 
greater than 10% of the local unit of government’s annual governmental fund revenues, based on the most recent fiscal 
year. 

Due Date: The local unit of government has 180 days from the date of notification to submit a corrective action 
plan to the Municipal Stability Board (the Board). The Board may extend the 180-day deadline by up to an additional 45 
days if the local unit of government submits a reasonable draft of a corrective action plan and requests an extension. 

Filing: Per Sec. 10(1) of PA 202 of 2017 (the Act), this Corrective Action Plan must be approved by the local 
government’s administrative officer and its governing body. You must provide proof of your governing body 
approving this Corrective Action Plan and attach the documentation as a separate PDF document. Per Sec. 
10(4) of the Act, failure to provide documentation that demonstrates approval from your governing body will result in a 
determination of noncompliance by the Board. 

The submitted plan must demonstrate through distinct supporting documentation how and when the local unit will 
reach the 60% funded ratio. Or, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county, the submitted plan may 
demonstrate how and when the ARC for all of the defined benefit pension systems will be less than 10% of annual 
governmental fund revenues, as defined by the Act. Supporting documentation for the funding ratio and/or ARC must 
include an actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an internally developed analysis. The local unit must project 
governmental fund revenues using a reasonable forecast based on historical trends and projected rates of inflation. 

The completed plan must be submitted via email to Treasury at LocalRetirementReporting@michigan.gov for review by 
the Board. If you have multiple underfunded retirement systems, you are required to complete separate 
plans and send a separate email for each underfunded system. Please attach each plan as a separate PDF 
document in addition to all applicable supporting documentation. 

The subject line of the email(s) should be in the following format: Corrective Action Plan-2017, Local Unit Name, 
Retirement System Name (e.g. Corrective Action Plan-2017, City of Lansing, Employees’ Retirement System 

Page 1 

mailto:LocalRetirementReporting@michigan.gov


 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  

    
   

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 
  

 

Pension Plan). Treasury will send an automatic reply acknowledging receipt of the email. Your individual email settings 
must allow for receipt of Treasury’s automatic reply. This will be the only notification confirming receipt of the 
application(s). 

Municipal Stability Board: The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) shall review and vote on the approval of a 
corrective action plan submitted by a local unit of government. If a corrective action plan is approved, the Board will 
monitor the corrective action plan for the following two years, and the Board will report on the local unit of 
government’s compliance with the Act not less than every two years. 

Review Process: Following receipt of the email by Treasury, the Board will accept the corrective action plan 
submission at the next scheduled meeting of the Board. The Board shall then approve or reject the corrective action 
plan within 45 days from the date of the meeting. 

Considerations for Approval: A successful corrective action plan will demonstrate the actions for correcting 
underfunded status as set forth in Sec. 10(7) of the Act (listed below), as well as any additional solutions to address the 
underfunded status. Please also include steps already taken to address your underfunded status as well as the date 
prospective actions will be taken. A local unit of government may also include in its corrective action plan, a review of 
the local unit of government's budget and finances to determine any alternative methods available to address its 
underfunded status. A corrective action plan under this section may include the development and implementation of 
corrective options for the local unit of government to address its underfunded status. The corrective options as 
described in Sec. 10(7) may include, but are not limited to, any of the following: 

(i) Closing the current defined benefit plan. 

(ii) Implementing a multiplier limit. 

(iii) Reducing or eliminating new accrued benefits. 

(iv) Implementing final average compensation standards. 

Implementation: The local unit of government has up to 180 days after the approval of a corrective action plan to 
begin to implement the corrective action plan to address its underfunded status. The Board shall monitor each 
underfunded local unit of government's compliance with this act and any corrective action plan. The Board shall adopt 
a schedule, not less than every 2 years, to certify that the underfunded local unit of government is in substantial 
compliance with the Act. If the Board determines that an underfunded local unit of government is not in substantial 
compliance under this subsection, the Board shall within 15 days provide notification and report to the local unit of 
government detailing the reasons for the determination of noncompliance with the corrective action plan. The local 
unit of government has 60 days from the date of the notification to address the determination of noncompliance. 

3. DESCRIPTIONS OF PRIOR ACTIONS 
Prior actions are separated into three categories below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other 
Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the prior actions implemented by the local government to address 
the retirement system’s underfunded status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample 
statements that you may choose to use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded 
status. For retirement systems that have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, 
please indicate how these changes impact the retirement system as a whole. 

 Please Note: If applicable, prior actions listed within your waiver application(s) may also be included in 
your corrective action plan. 

Page 2 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  

 

  

 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what has the local unit of government done to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Note: Please provide the name of the system impacted, the date you made the change, the relevant page number(s) 
within the supporting documentation, and the resulting change to the system’s funded ratio. 

Category of Prior Actions: 

 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement: The system’s multiplier for current employees was lowered from 2.5X to 2X for the General 
Employees’ Retirement System on January 1, 2017. On page 8 of the attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows 
our funded ratio will be 60% by fiscal year 2020. 

 Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: Voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: The local unit provided a lump sum payment of $1 million to the General Employees’ Retirement 
System on January 1, 2017. This lump sum payment was in addition to the actuarially determined contribution (ADC) of the 
system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system’s funded ratio to 61% by 2025. Please see page 10 of 
the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. 

 Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: The information provided on the Form 5572 from the audit used actuarial data from 2015. Attached is 
an updated actuarial valuation for 2017 that shows our funded ratio has improved to 62% as indicated on page 13. 

4. DESCRIPTION OF PROSPECTIVE ACTIONS 
The corrective action plan allows you to submit a plan of prospective actions which are separated into three categories 
below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the 
additional actions the local government is planning to implement to address the retirement system’s underfunded 
status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample statements that you may choose to 
use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded status. For retirement systems that 
have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, please indicate how these changes 
impact the retirement system as a whole. 

Page 3 



 

 

 

 
 

  

 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 
 
 

   

Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what will the local unit of government do to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Category of Prospective Actions: 

 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning with summer 2018 contract negotiations, the local unit will seek to lower the system’s 
multiplier for current employees from 2.5X to 2X for the General Employees’ Retirement System. On page 8 of the 
attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows our funded ratio would be 60% funded by fiscal year 2020 if these 
changes were adopted and implemented by fiscal year 2019. 

 Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will provide a lump sum payment of $1 million to the 
General Employees’ Retirement System. This lump sum payment will be in addition to the actuarially determined 
contribution (ADC) of the system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system’s funded ratio to 61% by 2025. 
Please see page 10 of the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. Please see page 12 of the 
attached supplemental actuarial valuation showing the projected change to the system’s funded ratio with this additional 
contribution. 

 Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will begin amortizing the unfunded portion of the pension 
liability using a level-dollar amortization method over a closed period of 10 years. This will allow the retirement 
system to reach a funded status of 62% by 2022 as shown in the attached actuarial analysis on page 13. 

Page 4 



 

 

  

 

 
 
  

 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

5. CONFIRMATION OF FUNDING 
Please check the applicable answer: 

Do the corrective actions listed in this plan allow for (insert local unit name) _____________________________ 
to make, at a minimum, the annual required contribution payment for the defined benefit pension system according to 
your long-term budget forecast? 

 Yes 
 No 

If No, Explain 

6. DOCUMENTATION ATTACHED TO THIS CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 
Documentation should be attached as a .pdf to this Corrective Action Plan. The documentation should detail the 
corrective action plan that would be implemented to adequately address the local unit of government’s underfunded 
status. Please check all documents that are included as part of this plan and attach in successive order as provided 
below: 

Naming convention: when attaching documents please use the naming convention shown below. If there is more 
than one document in a specific category that needs to be submitted, include a, b, or c for each document. For 
example, if you are submitting two supplemental valuations, you would name the first document “Attachment 2a” and 
the second document “Attachment 2b”. 

Naming Convention Type of Document 

 Attachment – 1 This Corrective Action Plan Form (Required) 

 Attachment – 1a Documentation from the governing body approving this 
Corrective Action Plan (Required) 

 Attachment – 2a An actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an 
internally developed analysis, which illustrates how and 
when the local unit will reach the 60% funded ratio. Or, 
if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county,  
ARC will be less than 10% of governmental fund 
revenues, as defined by the Act. (Required) 

 Attachment – 3a Documentation of additional payments in past years that is not 
reflected in your audited financial statements (e.g. enacted 
budget, system provided information). 

 Attachment – 4a Documentation of commitment to additional payments in future 
years (e.g. resolution, ordinance) 

 Attachment – 5a A separate corrective action plan that the local unit has 
approved to address its underfunded status, which includes 
documentation of prior actions, prospective actions, and the 
positive impact on the system’s funded ratio 

 Attachment –6a Other documentation not categorized above 

Page 5 



 

 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 
 

 
  

  

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

7. CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN CRITERIA 
Please confirm that each of the four corrective action plan criteria listed below have been satisfied when submitting 
this document. Specific detail on corrective action plan criteria can be found in the Corrective Action Plan 
Development: Best Practices and Strategies document. 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria Description 

 Underfunded Status  Is there a description and adequate supporting documentation 
of how and when the retirement system will reach the 60% 
funded ratio? Or, if your local unit is a city, village, township, or 
county, how and when the ARC of all pension systems will be 
less than 10 percent of governmental fund revenues? 

 Reasonable Timeframe Do the corrective actions address the underfunded status in a 
reasonable timeframe (see CAP criteria issued by the Board)? 

 Legal and Feasible Does the corrective action plan follow all applicable laws? Are 
all required administrative certifications and governing body 
approvals included? Are the actions listed feasible? 

 Affordability Do the corrective action(s) listed allow the local unit to make 
the annual required contribution payment for the pension 
system now and into the future without additional changes to 
this corrective action plan? 

8. LOCAL UNIT OF GOVERNMENT’S ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER APPROVAL OF CORRECTIVE 
ACTION PLAN 

I ____________________________, as the government’s administrative officer (enter title) 
_____________________________ (Ex: City/Township Manager, Executive director, and Chief Executive Officer, 
etc.) approve this Corrective Action Plan and will implement the prospective actions contained in this Corrective 
Action Plan. 

I confirm to the best of my knowledge that because of the changes listed above, one of the following statements will 
occur: 

 The _________________________________(Insert Retirement Pension System Name) will achieve a 
funded status of at least 60% by Fiscal Year ________ as demonstrated by required supporting documentation 
listed in section 6. 

OR, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county: 

 The ARC for all of the defined benefit pension retirement systems of ________________________ (Insert local 
unit name) will be less than 10% of the local unit of government’s annual governmental fund revenues by Fiscal 
Year _________ as demonstrated by required supporting documentation listed in section 6. 

Signature _____________________________________  Date ______________________________ 

Page 6 

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/DRAFT_MSB_Best_Practices_and_Strategies_7.13.18_627989_7.pdf
https://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/DRAFT_MSB_Best_Practices_and_Strategies_7.13.18_627989_7.pdf
https://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/DRAFT_MSB_Best_Practices_and_Strategies_7.13.18_627989_7.pdf






























































































































































































  

 

 

   

 

   
  

   
 

   
 

 
 

    
  

 
  

  
   

 
  

  
  

    
 
      

  
 

  
  
 

  
  

 

   
  

 
 

   
  

  
 

   
   

 

 
    

 
 

MUNICIPAL STABILITY BOARD 

RESOLUTION 2018-14 

APPROVAL OF APPENDIX A 

WHEREAS, the Michigan legislature passed the Protecting Local Government Retirement and 
Benefits Act, MCL 38.2801 et. seq., creating the Municipal Stability Board (the “MSB”) for the purpose 
of reviewing and approving corrective action plans submitted by municipalities addressing the 
underfunded status of their municipal retirement systems (the “Corrective Action Plan”); 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Department of Treasury (“Treasury”) provides administrative services 
to the MSB; 

WHEREAS, on September 12, 2018, by Resolution 2018-12, the MSB adopted the Corrective 
Action Plans Best Practices and Strategies and Corrective Action Plans Approval Criteria (“Approval 
Criteria”) pursuant to MCL 38.2808; 

WHEREAS, the Best Practices generally require that a plan (i) will sustain legacy costs and 
future retirement benefits; (ii) utilizes modern plan design; and (iii) is administered as effectively as 
possible to maintain a fiscally stable retirement system; 

WHEREAS, the Approval Criteria generally requires that a plan (i) demonstrate how and when a 
retirement system will reach a sixty percent funded ratio for pension systems and/or a forty percent 
funded ratio for retirement health systems; (ii) address the underfunded status within a reasonable 
timeframe; (iii) is legal and feasible; and (iv) is affordable; 

WHEREAS, the MSB previously received the municipalities’ listed on Appendix A attached to 
this Resolution (the “Municipalities”), Corrective Action Plans; 

WHEREAS, Treasury and the MSB have reviewed the Municipalities’ Corrective Action Plans 
pursuant to the Best Practices and Approval Criteria; and 

WHEREAS, Treasury is recommending the MSB approve or deny the Corrective Action Plans 
as detailed on Appendix A attached hereto. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSB determines that the Municipalities’ 
Corrective Action Plans Treasury is recommending for approval listed on Appendix A, sufficiently meet 
the Best Practices and Approval Criteria; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the MSB determines the Municipalities’ Corrective Action 
Plans Treasury is recommending for denial listed on Appendix A, do not sufficiently meet the Best 
Practices and Approval Criteria; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the MSB approves or denies the Municipalities’ Corrective 
Action Plans in agreement with Treasury’s recommendation as listed on Appendix A; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Treasury is directed to oversee the approved Corrective 
Action Plans are implemented pursuant to MCL 38.2810 and to report to the MSB the status of the 
implementation on a regular basis; and 



  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Treasury is directed to provide to Municipalities 
notification the MSB’s detailed reasons for denial of their Municipality’s Corrective Action Plan within 
fifteen days of this resolution pursuant to MCL 38.2810(4). 

Ayes: 
Nays: 
Recused: 
Lansing, Michigan 
October 17, 2018 



Color Code Key

Green meets CAP Criteria

Underfunded 

Status

Yellow partially meets CAP Criteria Timeframe

Red does not meet CAP Criteria Legal/Feasible

Affordable

# Local Unit Municode System Type

Date 

Received

Underfunded 

Status Timeframe Legal/Feasible Affordable

Treasury 

Recommendation Corrective Action Plan Link

1 Kalamazoo Lake Water and Sewer Authority037512 Pension 9/12/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve Kalamazoo Lake Water and Sewer Authority

2 City of Ionia 342020 Pension 9/12/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve City of Ionia Pension

3 Bloomfield Township Public Library 638006 OPEB 9/12/2018 No No Yes Yes Disapprove Bloomfield Township Public Library OPEB

4 City of Hart 642010 OPEB 9/12/2018 Partial Partial Yes Yes Approve City of Hart OPEB

5 Ottawa County Road Commission 700100 Pension 9/12/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve Ottawa County Road Commission Pension

6 Ottawa County Road Commission 700100 OPEB 9/12/2018 No No Yes Yes Disapprove Ottawa County Road Commission OPEB

MSB Appendix A October 17, 2018

Was there description and adequate supporting documentation of how and when the retirement system will address the Underfunded Status criteria as 

defined by the Municipal Stability Board?

Does this corrective action for this plan meet the Reasonable Timeframe criteria as defined by the Municipal Stability Board?

Does the corrective action plan follow all applicable laws? Are all required administrative certifications and governing body approvals included? Are the 

actions listed feasible?

The local unit must confirm that corrective actions listed in the CAP allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual required contribution (ARC) 

payment for pension plans and/or the retiree healthcare premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for new hires for retirement health benefits 

CAP Criteria Key

http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/037512_Kalamazoo_Lake_Sewer_and_Water_Authority_-_MERS_-_2017_CAP_Form_5598_635789_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/342020_City_of_Ionia_Pension_635868_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/638006_Bloomfield_Township_Public_Library_-_Bloomfield_Township_Other_Post-Employment_Benefits_Program_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_635794_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/642010_City_of_Hart_-_City_of_Hart_MERS_RHFV_Plan__2017_CAP_Form_5597_635829_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/700100_Ottawa_County_Road_Commission_-_Ottawa_CRC_2017_CAP_Form_5598_635830_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/700100_Ottawa_County_Road_Commission_-_The_Retiree_Health_Plan_2017_CAP_form_5597_635831_7.pdf


  
 

   
  

  
   

 
    

 

 
 

        

        

 

  

    

    

       

 

 

 

 

 

    

  

     

   

  

 

    

  

  

Treasury Recommendation 
Kalamazoo Lake Sewer and Water Authority 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 037512 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Municipal 
Employees 
Retirement 
System of 
Michigan 

Pension $929,998 $1,440,722 64.6% $41,709 $2,473,239 1.7% Yes 

Total $929,998 $1,440,722 64.6% $41,709 $2,473,239 1.7% Yes 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the pension corrective action plan submitted by the Kalamazoo 

Lake Sewer and Water Authority, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on 

September 12, 2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor the 

local unit for compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and the implementation of their corrective action 

plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 

o None Listed 

• Plan Funding: 

o None Listed 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 

o None Listed 

• Plan Funding: 

o None Listed 

Path to Funding: 

• The local unit failed to provide a timely FY2017 Retirement System Annual Report (Form 5572), 

resulting in the determination of underfunded status. The local unit has subsequently 

completed its Form 5572 and has submitted it as part of its corrective action plan. The Form 

5572 shows the system is 64.6% funded and the funded ratio has been verified by Treasury 

Staff. This satisfies the requirement of being greater than 60% funded as outlined in Public Act 

202 of 2017. 

Plan size: 20 people 

• Active employees: 12 

• Retired members: 8 



  
 

   
  

  

     

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Kalamazoo Lake Sewer and Water Authority 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 037512 

Corrective Action Criteria: 

The Kalamazoo Lake Sewer and Water Authority CAP follows these corrective action criteria: 

1. The Kalamazoo Lake Sewer and Water Authority confirms that the plan is legal and feasible 
because it complies with local, state, and federal laws; the CAP is approved by their governing 
body. 

2. The Kalamazoo Lake Sewer and Water Authority confirms that the plan is affordable in section 5, 

affirming the annual required contribution payments will be made. 

3. Their CAP reaches funding in a reasonable timeframe (Fiscal Year 2017 Form 5572 submission 

shows the local unit is already over 60% funded). 



  
 

   
  

  
   

 
    

 

         

 

 

    

      

    

 

  

 

   

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

     

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Ionia 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 342020 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS Pension $9,929,353 $21,618,661 45.9% $865,744 $6,738,507 12.8% Yes 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the pension corrective action plan submitted by the City of Ionia, 

which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on September 12, 2018. If approved by 

the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor the local unit for compliance per Public Act 

202 of 2017 and the implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 

o Closed the plan for the General Clerk Division on 7/1/2011, all new hires are enrolled in 

a hybrid pension plan. 

o Closed the plan for the Teamsters Division on 7/1/2012, all new hires are enrolled in a 

hybrid pension plan. 

o Closed the plan for the Public Safety Division on 7/1/2013, all new hires are enrolled in a 

hybrid pension plan. 

• Plan Funding: 

o The City of Ionia has made extra contributions above the actuarially determined 

contribution for the last five calendar years totaling $805,000. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 

o The City will close Division 12 (General Department Heads) by 1/31/2019 for all new 

hires and switch to a hybrid plan 

• Plan Funding: 

o The City of Ionia has committed to funding the pension by an extra $250,000 per year 

for the calendar years 2019-2022. 

Path to Funding: 

• The City of Ionia certifies to be at 60% funded by fiscal year 2024. 

Plan size: 102 people as of 12/31/2017 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 48 

• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 10 

• Active employees: 44 



  
 

   
  

   

     

    

  

     

  

  

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Ionia 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 342020 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The City of Ionia CAP follows these corrective action criteria: 

1. The City of Ionia confirms that the plan is legal and feasible because it complies with local, state, 

and federal laws; the CAP is approved by their governing body. 

2. The City of Ionia confirms that the plan is affordable in section 5, affirming the annual required 

contribution payments will be made. 

3. Their CAP reaches funding in a reasonable timeframe (2024). 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Ionia included an updated August 22, 2018 valuation, showing their projected 

funded ratio (see chart below). The plan is still open for certain divisions. 



  
  

   
  

  
   

 
    

 

 
     

 

  

 
 

 

 

       

       

 

  

 

   

   

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

      

Treasury Recommendation 
Bloomfield Township Public Library 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Non-Primary Unit 638006 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Retirement 
Income Plan 

Pension $7,772,556 $7,977,165 97.4% $0 0.0% No 

Bloomfield 
Township 
Other Post-
Employment 
Benefits 
Program 

OPEB $0 $5,257,680 0.0% $531,108 
$7,154,434 

7.42% Yes 

Total $7,772,556 $13,234,845 58.73% $531,108 $7,154,434 7.42% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Denial of the corrective action plan submitted by Bloomfield Township Public 

Library, which was received by Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on September 12, 2018. If denied, 

Bloomfield Township Public Library, will receive a detailed letter from the Board listing the reasons for 

disapproval. Bloomfield Township Public Library will have 60 days from the date of the notification to 

address the reasons for disapproval and resubmit a corrective action plan for approval. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 

o Increased the cost sharing for active employees. 

o The plan now requires the use of mail order for certain high cost prescription drugs. 

o The plan uses Medicare as the primary insurance for retirees that are 65 or older. 

o The plan is closed to new hires as of May 2011. 

• Plan Funding: 

o Management has assigned assets for OPEB payments equal to the outstanding 

unfunded actuarial accrued liability. 

Path to Funding: 

• Adopting a budget for fiscal year 2018-2019 and fiscal year 2019-2020 that include additional 

contributions to the assigned fund balance. 

Plan size: 39 people as of 7/1/2016 

• 18 Active 

• 13 Retired members 

• 1 Beneficiary 

• 6 Spouses of retirees 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

Bloomfield Township Public Library Commission CAP follows these corrective action criteria: 



  
  

   
  

 

 

    

   

    

 

   

  

  

 

 

   

   

  

 

  

   

   

 

    

 

  

  

  

 

   

Treasury Recommendation 
Bloomfield Township Public Library 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Non-Primary Unit 638006 

1. Bloomfield Township Public Library confirms that the plan is legal and feasible because it 

complies with local, state, and federal laws; is approved by their governing body. 

2. Bloomfield Township Public Library confirms that the plan is affordable in section 5, affirming 

the retiree premiums and normal cost, if applicable, will be paid. 

Bloomfield Township Public Library CAP does not follow these corrective action criteria: 

1. Underfunded status and reasonable timeframe: The plan does not demonstrate when the 

retirement system will reach 40% funded. As part of the funded ratio criteria, a local 

government must demonstrate through its financial statements when it will hit 40% funded. 

Under guidance issued by the Government Accounting Standards Board, assigned funds can be 

reassigned to other purposes at the discretion of management, and thus are not counted as 

assets of the retirement system for calculating the funded ratio. 

The Library’s plan did not indicate these assets would be placed into a qualified trust. Although 

the funds are currently assigned for retiree healthcare payments, they do not count as assets for 

funding ratio purposes. 

Supplemental Information: 

Bloomfield Township Public Library states in their corrective action plan that “100% of the UAAL is 

reported in the Assigned Fund Balance, which is maintained through budget and accounting entries. In 

each of the past 3 years, the size of the employer's required contributions to increase the Assigned Fund 

Balance was determined by the actuaries through actuarial valuations. Increases have historically been 

budgeted pursuant to a biennial actuarial valuation, and in non-valuation years UAAL contributions are 

estimated using census data, premiums paid, discount rate, and contributions paid. Budgets are 

approved in August and adopted in March.” 

Bloomfield Township Public Library states in their corrective action plan that “Under GASB, the Assigned 

Fund Balance is considered more protected than an "Unassigned" spendable General Fund balance 

amount. The Assigned Fund Balance is invested together with all General Fund assets to achieve 

improved net returns and costs. If it was instead segregated into a trust, a decrease in expected returns 

could result due to the decrease in the size of the portfolio triggering higher cost share classes, and 

higher investment fees.” 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• The CEFD scheduled a call on August 28, 2018 to discuss the withdrawn corrective action plan 

and discussed that Public Act 202 of 2017 requires the funding ratio to come from the financial 

statements of the audit and that assigned and committed funds are not included in OPEB assets 

per the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Accounting Standards. 



  
 

   
  

  
   

 
    

 

  

 
        

       

    

  

 

  

   

 

     

  

   

 

    

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Hart 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 642010 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

City of Hart 
MERS RHFV 
Plan 

OPEB $175,165 $2,295,891 7.6% $353,821 $1,958,917 18.1% YES 

Total $175,165 $2,295,891 7.6% $353,821 $1,958,917 18.1% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by The City of Hart, 

which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on September 12, 2018. If approved by 

the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 

2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 

o Changed benefits for retired employees to match those of current employees to 

contribute 20% of benefit premiums. 

o In 2016, the plan for current employees was changed from Health Maintenance 

Organization (HMO) Health Savings Account (HSA) Gold $1250 Plan to HMO $250 90% 

plan. 

• Plan Funding: 

o Established MERS Retirement Health Funding Vehicle (RHFV) plan in June 2014, and 

began contributions from cash reserves 

o In July 2017, the City contributed an additional $69,900 

Prospective Changes: 

• Plan Funding: 

o On April 24, 2018, the City passed a resolution committing the City to funding $100,000 

annually to the MERS RHFV Plan from 2018 to 2024. 

Path to Funding: 

• The City of Hart states that based on their current projected liability on June 30, 2017 of 

$2,410,534, they would need to have assets of $964,214 to address their underfunded status by 

reaching 40% funded. Based on their June 30, 2017 audit, they had assets of $175,165, and in 

July of 2017, contributed an additional $69,900, bringing their total to $263,489. With the 

additional $700,000 they have resolved to contributing from 2018-2024, the City states they 

will reach 40% funded in FY2024. 



  
 

   
  

   

 

 

  

    

 

      

   

 

   

     

 

 

 

     

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Hart 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 642010 

Plan size: 26 people 

• 22 Active 

• 4 Retired members 

Corrective Action Criteria: 

The City of Hart CAP follows these corrective action criteria: 

1. The City of Hart confirmed that the plan is legal and feasible because it complies with local, 

state, and federal laws; is approved by their governing body. 

2. The City of Hart authorized that the plan is affordable in section 5, affirming the retiree 

premiums and normal cost, if applicable, will be paid. 

The City of Hart CAP partially follows these corrective action criteria: 

1. Underfunded status and reasonable timeframe: The City of Hart addresses underfunded status by 

passing a resolution to fund $100,000 annually to their MERS RHFV Plan for the years 2018 to 2024. 

Based on this funding commitment, in addition to their current system assets, the City of Hart 

projects that they will reach 40% funded by 2024, which appears to satisfy the Board’s underfunded 

status and reasonable timeframe criteria. However, the City of Hart did not consider investment 

returns on its assets, nor did it consider changes to the retiree healthcare liability through FY2024. 

As a result, the Department believes the City of Hart has only partially complied with the Board’s 
criteria. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Hart included their December 2017 valuation; however, this does not reflect the 

funding resolution passed in August 2018 to address their underfunded status. 



 
 

   
  

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

    
 

      

 
 

  

 
 

       

         
  

      
       

     
     

 

  
      

 
    

  
  

    
 

  

  
   

  
    

 

 

    
   
   

   
    

Treasury Recommendation 
Ottawa County Road Commission 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 700100 

Name 
of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Ottawa 
CRC Pension $30,643,532 $55,068,361 55.6% $1,466,702 3.5% Yes 

The 
Retiree 
Health 
Plan 

Healthcare $0 $1,632,020 0.0% $337,063 

$41,565,263 

.8% Yes 

Total $30,643,532 $56,700,381 $1,803,765 $41,565,263 4.3% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the pension corrective action plan submitted by the Ottawa County 
Road Commission, which was received by the Board on September 12,2018. If approved by the 
Municipal Stability Board (MSB), Treasury and the MSB will continue to monitor the local unit for 
compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o In 2010, implemented cost sharing with employees, ranging from 3% to 5% of covered 

payroll. 
o In 2014 and 2016, the Commission closed the pension plan to new non-bargaining and 

bargaining unit employees respectively. 
• Plan Funding: 

o The Commission has made annual contributions in addition to the ARC, ranging from 
$150,000 to $1,200,000 from 2011 through 2017. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None Listed 

• Plan Funding: 
o The local unit will continue to contribute no less then the ARC as required by MERS and 

State Law. 

Path to Funding: 

• The Commission has submitted a Statement of Fiduciary Net Position showing assets of 
$33,571,753 as of 12/31/2017.  The Commission has also submitted a page from its 12/31/2017 
GASB 68 report showing a total pension liability of $55,892,412 resulting in a funded ratio of 
60.0%. This satisfies the requirement of being greater than 60% funded as outlined in Public Act 
202 of 2017. 



 
 

   
  

 
 

    
  
   

  

     

   
       

    
      

 

 

   

  

  

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Ottawa County Road Commission 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 700100 

Plan size: 237 Members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 140 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 14 
• Active employees: 83 

Corrective Action Criteria: 

The Ottawa County Road Commission CAP follows these corrective action criteria: 

1. The CAP has been approved by the Authority’s governing body. 
2. The Ottawa County Road Commission confirmed that the plan is affordable in section 5, 

affirming the annual required contribution payments will be made. 
3. The CAP reaches funding in a reasonable timeframe (2017). 

Supplemental Information: 

• None Noted 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None Noted 



 
 

   
  

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

    
 

      

 
 

  

 
 

       

         
  

      
      

    
      

    
 

 

  
   
  
   

    
  

  

 

  
   

  
     

  
   

 

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Ottawa County Road Commission 

Healthcare Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 700100 

Name 
of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Ottawa 
CRC Pension $30,643,532 $55,068,361 55.6% $1,466,702 3.5% Yes 

The 
Retiree 
Health 
Plan 

Healthcare $0 $1,632,020 0.0% $337,063 

$41,565,263 

.8% Yes 

Total $30,643,532 $56,700,381 $1,803,765 $41,565,263 4.3% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Denial of the Retiree Health Plan corrective action plan submitted by the 
Ottawa County Road Commission, which was received by the Board on September 12, 2018. If denied, 
the Ottawa County Road Commission will receive a detailed letter from the Municipal Stability Board 
listing the reasons for disapproval. The Ottawa County Road Commission will have 60 days from the date 
of the notification to address the reasons for disapproval and resubmit a corrective action plan for 
approval. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o In 2013, plan closed to new non-bargaining unit employees. 
o In 2016, plan closed to new bargaining unit employees. 
o In 2016, eligible retirees will pay the same insurance premium percentage as active 

employees (16% of insurance premium cost). 
• Plan Funding: 

o Local unit funds the plan on a pay-as-you-go basis. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None Listed 

• Plan Funding: 
o The Commission wishes to continue with a pay-as-you-go OPEB funding method as the 

plan is closed, plan expense is a very small percentage of revenues, plan OPEB eligibility 
window is short, and plan census data shows declining retirees eligible beginning in 
2024. 



 
 

   
  

 
 

   
 

 

  

   
  

  

     

   
      

  

   

     
      

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Ottawa County Road Commission 

Healthcare Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 700100 

Path to Funding: 

• The Ottawa County Road Commission’s corrective action plan did not demonstrate that it will 
reach 40% funded.  The local unit indicated it wishes to continue with a pay-as-you-go funding 
method. 

Plan size: 81 Members 

• Active employees: 67 
• Retired members: 14 

Corrective Action Criteria: 

The Ottawa County Road Commission CAP follows these corrective action criteria: 

1. The plan has been approved by the Authority’s governing body. 
2. The Ottawa County Road Commission confirmed that the plan is affordable in section 5, 

affirming the retiree premium payments will be made. 

The Ottawa County Road Commission CAP does not follow these corrective action criteria: 

1. Underfunded status and reasonable timeframe: the CAP does not demonstrate when the 
retirement system will reach a 40% funded ratio. 


	MSB Agenda 10.17.2018
	MSB Minutes 9.12.2018
	PA 202 Treasury Update
	Corrective Action Plan Extension Requests
	City of Wyandotte Extension Request
	City of Wyandotte Draft CAP - Retiree Health Care Plan

	Receipt of Corrective Action Plans
	City of East Lansing - MERS
	Bay Metropolitan Transportation Authority - MERS
	Bay Metropolitan Transportation Authority - Retiree Health Funding Vehicle with MERS
	Wexford County Road Commission - CRC
	Suburban Mobility Authority for Regional Transportation - SMART Retiree Health Funding Vehicle
	Village of Farwell - MERS of Michigan
	Gratiot County Road Commission - Municipal Employees' Retirement System
	City of Fraser - Municipal Employees Retirement System of Michigan
	City of Fraser - Self Funded OPEB
	Central Michigan Health Department - Municipal Employees' Retirement System
	City of Eastpointe - MERS
	City of Escanaba - Municipal Employees Retirement System (MERS)
	City of St. Johns - MERS of Michigan
	Beecher Metropolitan District OPEB Plan
	Marquette Board of Light and Power - MERS – Retiree Health Funding Vehicle
	City of Southfield - Retiree Healthcare Benefits Plan and Trust – Fire & Police Retirees (F&P)
	City of Southfield - Retiree Healthcare Benefits Plan and Trust – SERS Retirees
	Saline Area Fire Dept. - Corrective Action Plan 2017

	Resolution 2018-14 Approval of Appendix A
	Appendix A
	Treasury Recommendations:
	Kalamazoo Lake Sewer and Water Authority Pension
	City of Ionia Pension
	Bloomfield Township Public Library OPEB
	City of Hart OPEB
	Ottawa County Road Commission Pension
	Ottawa County Road Commission 



	Reset: 
	Local Unit Name: City of East Lansing
	SixDigit Muni Code: 332010
	Retirement Health Benefit System Name: MERS-City of East Lansing
	Contact Name: George Lahanas
	Title: City Manager
	Email: glahana@cityofeastlansing.com
	Phone: (517) 319-6920
	System Design Changes_1: On
	Additional Funding Checkbox: On
	Sample Statement 1: 1. New/Current, non-PA 312-eligible employees were moved from defined benefit plans to defined contribution plans, beginning in 1999.  New/current non-PA 312-elibigble employees were moved to a cost-controlling Hybrid Retirement Plans, effective November 1, 2010.  The Hybrid consists of a 1.5X multiplier with no overtime or paid time off inclusion in the FAC; the retirement age is 60.  (Attachment 2a(1), Actuarial Study, Page 24 of 89). 2. New/current PA 312-eligible employees, effective July 1, 2011 are in a lower, cost controlling defined benefit pension plan:  The multiplier was lowered from 2.75X to 2.25X; allowing overtime pay in FAC was changed to allowing NO overtime in FAC; the amount of vacation time and other leave time banks allowed in FAC was capped at a total of 240 hours, rather than unlimited; and, retirement age was increased from 50 to 55.  (Attachment 2a(1), Page 24 of 89).3. Employees have increased contributions to their defined benefit plans (Attachment 2a(1), Pages 80-89) 
	Sample Statement 2: The City of East Lansing provided lump sum payments of $2 million in Fiscal Year 2016, $1 million in Fiscal Year 2017, and $2,560,000  in Fiscal Year 2018 to the MERS Retirement System.  These lump sum payments were in addition to the actuarially determined contribution (ADC) of the system.  We are hopeful that these additional payments will increase our funding ratio in our next MERS valuation.  (Attachment 3a- General Ledger detail, highlighting our additional contribution over the past three years).  $1.5 million is not reflected in the 2017 valuation.  Preliminary estimates have us at a funding ratio of 54%.
	Other Considerations: On
	Sample Statement 3: 9% of our net pension liabilities are attributable to employees within our enterprise divisions (Attachment 6a, Summary of GL Accounts (Balance Sheet) analysis); yet, we could not include enterprise revenue as part of governmental funds.  Our revenue ratio would only be 9.5% when including enterprise funds within the calculation.  
	System Design Changes_2: Off
	Sample Statement 4: 
	Additional Funding_2: On
	Sample Statement 5: The City of East Lansing's most recent MERS actuarial report shows that we have stopped the decline in our funding ratio and have flattened out.  In order to continue this trend, our City Council placed, and residents passed, a standard income tax on the August 7, 2018 ballot with 60% dedicated to supplemental legacy cost payments. This should generate $3 million for supplemental pension payments each year for the next 12 years (Attachment 4a (1) Attachment 4a(2)).  The estimated income from the income tax is $10 million, less the 5 mill property tax roll back.  This should generate about $5 million in estimated revenue for the City. See attached Income Tax Feasibility Study.  (Attachment 4a (3) p.10).
	Other Considerations_3: On
	Sample Statement 6: With additional projected 3 million annual supplemental payments, we will reach a 60% funded status as of FY2025 per MERS provided ballpark.  Attachment 2a(2). Dip in funding ratio: That is mainly caused by the asset smoothing method we use to determine the actuarial value of assets. In the 2017 AAV the Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) is 101% of the Market Value of Assets (MVA). Over the next few years, past losses are becoming recognized, and our projection assumptions about economic events are such that we do not assume past losses will be made up by future gains-AVAconverging to MVA.
	Insert Local Unit Name: The City of East Lansing
	Question 5 Checkbox: On
	Answer No Explanation: 
	Attachment 1: On
	Attachment 1a: On
	Attachment 2a: On
	Attachment 3a: On
	Attachment 4a: On
	Attachment 5a: Off
	Attachment 6a: On
	Attachment 7a: On
	Attachment 7b: On
	Attachment 7c: On
	Attachment 7d: On
	Signee Name_1: George Lahanas
	Signee Title: City Manager
	Retirement Pension Name: MERS-City of East Lansing
	Fiscal Year 1: 2025
	Attachment 7e: On
	Local Unit Name Inserted: 
	Fiscal Year 2: 
	Signature: George Lahanas
	Date: 9/19/2018


